

Version 1.0 | Last updated 24 February 2017

# Foreign Policy (Spain)

By José Antonio Montero Jiménez

Throughout the Great War, successive Spanish governments tried to advance traditional foreign policy claims – the annexation of Tangier, the return of Gibraltar and the possibility of intervening in Portugal – while at the same time facing the economic, political and social threats derived from internal instability and the indirect effects of the conflict. Spain always navigated a difficult balance between the temptation of exercising a benevolent neutrality towards its traditional European partners – France and Great Britain – and the need to reduce the harmful consequences of German submarine activity.

### **Table of Contents**

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Spanish Foreign Policy, 1898-1914
- **3** Assessing the Reality of the War (1914-1917)
  - 3.1 The Beginning of the Conflict
  - 3.2 1916: Pressures from Both Sides
- 4 A Strategy of Survival, 1917-1918
  - **4.1** Spain and the Allies' Economic Warfare
  - **4.2** Submarines and the Crisis of August-October 1918
- **5** Conclusion

**Notes** 

Selected Bibliography

Citation

### Introduction

There have been few historical studies on the important aspects of Spanish foreign policy during the First World War. Traditionally, Spanish scholars have neglected their country's role in the war, focusing instead on internal issues, such as the disintegration of the Spanish liberal monarchy;<sup>[1]</sup> the effects of the conflict on the national economy;<sup>[2]</sup> and the progressive polarization of the country into two blocs that ended up fighting a civil war.<sup>[3]</sup> The earliest, albeit partial, accounts of the Spanish government's dealings with the belligerent powers date back to the war years and were for the most part of a propagandistic or laudatory nature.<sup>[4]</sup> In the past twenty years, new approaches to the role of European neutrals have resulted in studies of Spain's attitudes towards the conflict from different angles:<sup>[5]</sup> relations with countries such as France and the United States;<sup>[6]</sup> regional studies centred around regions of strategic or economic value;<sup>[7]</sup> and pioneering analyses on the belligerents' secret and propaganda services.<sup>[8]</sup> These new insights have led to a reinterpretation of the connection between internal and foreign affairs in general, as well as the attitudes to war of influential groups such as intellectuals, politicians and journalists.<sup>[9]</sup>

# Spanish Foreign Policy, 1898-1914

After its defeat in the war against the United States in 1898, Spain did its best to find an international guarantor for its few remaining possessions outside the Iberian Peninsula – the Balearic and Canary Islands, as well as Ceuta and Melilla in North Africa. This led the country to associate itself with the Franco-British Entente through an agreement with France in 1904 by which both countries divided up the Moroccan sultanate as a preliminary step towards the future establishment of a Franco-Spanish protectorate. Three years later Spain concluded the Cartagena agreements with France and England, which included a general compromise on territorial stability in the Mediterranean. Over time, the Madrid governments ended up seeing the colonization of the North African sultanate as their last opportunity to improve their image internationally. Those ambitions coincided with the disappointment that accompanied the final establishment in 1912 of the Franco-Spanish protectorate in Morocco. Spain, who had long ago seen its ambitions over the city of Tangier vanish, tried to resist France's demands for further reductions of its zone, by appealing (unsuccessfully), to England. Spanish resentment against Great Britain had also increased since 1910, when the Portuguese monarchy had been overthrown, raising fears that Alfonso XIII, King of Spain (1886-1941) could share the same destiny. Since then, the king had been contemplating military intervention in Portugal, something that England, Lisbon's traditional ally, would never allow.[10]

Between 1912 and 1914, some voices in official circles began seeing the connection with France and Great Britain as a hindrance to Spain's international ambitions.<sup>[11]</sup> But every new move had to take into account the international economic position of the nation, which depended on foreign goods and capital coming, mostly, from its Entente partners. When the war broke out in Europe, Spain was therefore ready to take advantage of every opportunity to advance some of its unfulfilled claims: Tangier, Portugal and Gibraltar. All this occurred in the middle of deepening political instability.

Between August 1914 and November 1918, the king appointed seven consecutive cabinets all of which were unable to pass even the annual budget through parliament.

# **Assessing the Reality of the War (1914-1917)**

#### The Beginning of the Conflict

Although Prime Minister Eduardo Dato (1856-1921) rushed to proclaim neutrality on 7 August 1914, the government, some opposition leaders, and the king did not resign themselves to playing a passive role in the conflict. A few days earlier, in a letter to Alfonso XIII, Dato had talked about "possible requirements" that could end up forcing Spain to intervene. [12] On 19 August, the Liberal leader, Álvaro de Figueroa, Count Romanones (1863-1950) anonymously published in his *Diario Universal* a famous article titled "Neutralities that Kill", calling to "let England and France know that we are with them". [13] That month, the king expressed his regret to the French ambassador that he was "the head of a country too weak to engage in the war," [14] and said to the American ambassador that "his personal intuition was to take part in the struggle." [15] Throughout 1914 and 1915, the government and Alfonso XIII had talks with representatives of both sides to assess what Spain could expect from them if it decided to exercise a benevolent neutrality. In October 1914, when there were still hopes that Germany could gain an easy victory, Berlin offered Spain Tangier, Gibraltar and a free hand in Portugal should Madrid refrain from helping the Allies in any way. [16] Correspondingly, in early 1915, the Spanish government tried to negotiate with Britain the future incorporation of Tangier if the Entente won. [17]

#### 1916: Pressures from Both Sides

As 1915 continued, with neither side gaining significant advantage in the conflict, the Entente and the Central Powers began preparing for a longer and total war. They devised new schemes that greatly affected life in neutral countries. In 1916, Germany began to deploy its <u>submarines</u> in the Mediterranean, at the same time plotting to use certain Spanish ports as secret points for supplies, or for conveying information to its U-boats.<sup>[18]</sup> At the same time, in an effort to reduce trade between Spain and the Allies, German submarines began, with renewed impetus, destroying Spanish merchant vessels: from March to December 1916, they sank fifteen ships, amounting to 33,000 metric tons.<sup>[19]</sup> As a response, the Allies modified their <u>blockade systems</u> to impede neutral trade with Germany. They not only used a blacklist and embargoes, but also tried to get rid of German competitors in neutral markets, to the point of punishing all neutral firms or individuals doing business with them.<sup>[20]</sup>

Spain did its best to resist this new wave of belligerents' interference in its internal affairs. After the German U-35 visited the port of Cadiz in June 1916, the Allies began pressing Madrid to ban the entrance of all submarines to Spanish ports. Should Spain acquiesce, Germany would surely

retaliate, increasing its attacks against Spanish merchant vessels, whose owners were already threatening to cease operations until the government found a way to protect them effectively. Madrid first attempted to launch a concerted action with the United States with a view to outlining a clear policy towards the visits of German submarines, and to try to force Berlin to stop attacking neutral tonnage. Having failed, the Spanish government, led by Count Romanones, approached Great Britain and France in search of support, and compensation in Morocco after the war, in return for a more benevolent stance or even a severance of German-Spanish relations. In September 1916, Romanones met secretly with Jules Cambon (1845-1935) – then a high-ranking officer in the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs – and Stephan Pichon (1857-1933), former and future minister of foreign affairs, who acted as unofficial envoy from the French government. Though Pichon seemed open to Spanish demands, and eager to have Spain side with the Entente, there was not much Romanones could do to change his country's position. In late 1916, the Germans orchestrated a full-blown press campaign, accusing him of profiting from the war to improve his finances, and forcing him to resign in April 1917.

Spain also achieved limited results in its struggle to face the economic burdens of the war. Early in the conflict, Spaniards turned to the United States as an alternative source of supply. The Madrid government eased the legal and financial barriers affecting U.S./Spanish trade, and American imports into Spain rose from 153 million *pesetas* in 1914, to 399 million in 1916. This made the U.S. Spain's main supplier, a position it would maintain well into the twentieth century. Nevertheless, imports from the Entente powers, and particularly from Great Britain, also increased in value, pointing to the fact that Spain still depended on them for obtaining certain vital goods, especially coal. [23] The new trade regulations imposed by the Allies, the growing scarcity of basic supplies in Spain and the decimating of merchant marine convinced Madrid to negotiate a new kind of commercial agreement with the Allies. The so-called Cortina agreement with Great Britain contemplated the exchange of Spanish iron for British coal. It was concluded early in 1917, though it would never become effective, due to the deepening political crisis in Spain. When 1916 came to an end, the huge balance of trade benefits Spain had been making since 1914 seemed at stake. [24]

# A Strategy of Survival, 1917-1918

#### Spain and the Allies' Economic Warfare

The fall of Count Romanones coincided with the outbreak of the Spanish political crisis of 1917, one of the gravest in the country's recent history. At the same time, the entrance of the United States into the war in April of that year strengthened the Allies' leverage over neutral countries. The Entente powers had already attempted to organize their economic activities in Spain, so as to avoid direct competition among them. This process came to its zenith during the Inter-Allied Economic Conference that took place at Paris in late 1917, in which the Allies agreed to coordinate their purchases in Spain and to try to force Spain to put some of its merchant tonnage and its financing capabilities at their service. This time, France and England counted on the series of embargoes that,

between July 1917 and January 1918, the United States put on exports to the Iberian Peninsula — mostly on coal, oil and cotton — whose absence could but increase the social turmoil that engulfed the country. The Americans made the Spanish government know that the issuance of licences for the export of those products would in the future depend on accepting certain conditions. On 7 March 1918, the Spanish government signed agreements with France and the United States agreeing, in exchange for fixed quantities of oil and cotton, to sell them foodstuffs, canvas, soap, leather products and other equipment, as well as limited quantities of wool, pyrites, lead, zinc and copper, some of which were scarce in Spain. At the same time, to finance its purchases, Madrid had to press Spanish bankers into extending credits, first to France, and then, in August, to America. The March and August agreements did not bring Spain as much relief as it expected. The agreement did not prevent Spanish imports of cotton and oil from being, in 1918, considerably inferior to those in 1917. That year Spain had bought 191,689 pounds of cotton and 8,323 gallons of oil, which dwindled to 122.197 pounds and 6.836 gallons in 1918.

### **Submarines and the Crisis of August-October 1918**

The Entente powers and the United States also took a harder stance towards the activities of German submarines near the Spanish coasts. Following the spectacular escape of the U-293 from the port of Cadiz on 9 September 1917, where it was interned, the United States for the first time joined France, England and Italy in a common diplomatic protest urging the internment of all German ships in Spanish ports. The Madrid government was also soon confronted with a new wave of submarine attacks on Spanish ships. Between July 1915 and early June 1918, German U-boats sank fifty-seven Spanish merchant vessels – 22 percent of the total. Somewhat surprisingly, the coalition government, presided over by the elderly Conservative leader, Antonio Maura (1853-1925), announced on 10 August that it would seize one German merchant ship anchored in Iberian ports for each Spanish vessel sunk by a submarine. When on 30 August Maura ordered the seizing of a German vessel, Berlin's response was to state that it would consider such an action as a reason for war.

For the first time in four years, the Spanish government faced the real possibility of entering the war. The minister of state, Eduardo Dato, began a series of consultations with Paris, London and Washington, asking what help Spain could expect from the Allies if war broke out with Germany, and whether it could hope for compensation in Morocco. Though France seemed sympathetic at first, the British considered that Spain would be less useful to their cause as a belligerent they would have to protect, than as a neutral provider of products important for the war effort. The final decision was taken over the objections of the American ambassador, Joseph Willard (1865-1924), who remained determined to encourage Spain to break relations with Berlin. The Entente had to appeal directly to President Woodrow Wilson (1856-1924), and on 5 October the secretary of state ordered Willard to follow in the steps of the rest of the Allies: they would congratulate Spain for having finally decided to oppose German actions, but would do nothing to push the Spanish government towards a declaration of war. On this occasion, they concurred with the Spanish king who, overwhelmed by the

recent 1917 crisis and the overthrow of the Russian tsar, was afraid that entrance would be tantamount to revolution. The Spanish government saw no option but to negotiate directly with Berlin some kind of compensation for its tonnage losses: in late October 1918, Germany agreed to transfer seven ships to Spain. When the armistice came into force on 11 November 1918, the Spanish government was still trying to obtain greater compensation from Berlin.<sup>[26]</sup>

## Conclusion

Shortly after the signing of the armistice, Count Romanones, given his credentials as the most pro-Allied Spanish politician, again became head of the Spanish government. In an unprecedented move, he travelled to Paris to meet President Wilson on 20 December 1918, to present to him Spain's hopes for the new world order. He wanted compensation for the loss of merchant shipping at the hands of German submarines; Spanish participation in the Versailles negotiations and the drafting of the Covenant of the League of Nations; and a greater Spanish presence in Morocco. Though Romanones cabled the king that, "the conversation with Wilson has been extremely interesting and cordial to the utmost", [27] the truth was that the American president (like the other Allied leaders at Versailles), did not pay much attention to the points raised by the Spaniard. When the Paris Conference ended in 1919, Spanish foreign policy was at the same point it was in 1914, but with one clear difference: Germany could never be used as a counterbalance to those French and British claims that went against Spain's deepest dreams and interests.

José Antonio Montero Jiménez, Universidad Complutense de Madrid

Section Editor: Carolina García Sanz

#### **Notes**

- 1. ↑ See, as an example Seco Serrano, Carlos: La España de Alfonso XIII: el estado, la política, los movimientos sociales, Madrid 2002.
- 2. ↑ Roldán, Santiago / García Delgado, José Luis: La consolidación del capitalismo en España, 1914-1920, Madrid 1974.
- 3. ↑ Meaker, Gerald: A Civil War of Words. The Ideological Impact of the First World War on Spain, 1914-18, in: Schmitt, H.A. (ed.): Neutral Europe Between War and Revolution, Charlottesville, Virginia 1988, pp. 1-65.
- 4. ↑ Mousset, Albert: La política exterior de España, 1873-1918, Madrid 1918. Espinós Moltó, Víctor: Alfonso XIII y la guerra. Espejo de neutrales, Madrid 1918. Cortés Cavanillas, Julián: Alfonso XIII y la guerra del 14, Madrid 1974. Pando, Juan: Un Rey para la esperanza, Madrid 2002.

- 5. † A good survey in García Sanz, Carolina / Fuentes Codera, Maximiliano: Toward New Approaches to Neutrality in the First World War. Rethinking the Spanish Case-study, in: Ruiz Sánchez, José-Leonardo / Cordero Olivero, Inmaculada / García Sanz, Carolina (eds.): Shaping Neutrality throughout the First World War, Seville 2016, pp. 39-62.
- 6. ↑ Montero Jiménez, José Antonio: El despertar de la gran potencia. Las relaciones entre España y los Estados Unidos, 1898-1914, Madrid 2011. González Calleja, Eduardo / Aubert, Paul: Nidos de espías. España, Francia y la Primera Guerra Mundial 1914-1918, Madrid, 2014.
- 7. † García Sanz, Carolina: La Primera Guerra Mundial en el Estrecho de Gibraltar. Economía, política y relaciones internacionales, Madrid 2011. Ponce Marrero, Javier: Canarias en la Gran Guerra, 1914-1918: estrategia y diplomacia. Un estudio sobre la política exterior de España, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria 2006.
- 8. † On secret services, see García Sanz, Fernando: España en la Gran Guerra. Espías, diplomáticos y traficantes, Barcelona 2014. On propaganda, see Wolper, Gregg: The Origins of Public Diplomacy: The Committee on Public Information in Spain, in: Diplomatic History 17/1 (1991), pp. 17-34. Aubert, Paul: La propagande étrangère en Espagne dans le premier tiers du XXe siècle, in: Mélanges de la Casa de Velázquez 31/3 (1995), pp. 103-176. Ponce Marrero, Javier: Propaganda and Politics: Germany and Spanish Opinion in World War I, in: Paddock, T.R.E. (ed.): World War I and Propaganda, Leiden et al. 2014, pp. 293-321.
- 9. ↑ Romero Salvadó, Francisco J.: España 1914-1918. Entre la guerra y la revolución, Barcelona 2002. Juliá, Santos: Historias de las dos Españas, Madrid 2006. Fuentes Codera, Maximiliano: España en la Gran Guerra. Una movilización cultural, Madrid 2014.
- 10. ↑ Torre del Río, Rosario de la: La crisis de 1898 y el problema de la garantía exterior, in: Hispania XLVI/162 (1986), pp. 115-164. Niño Rodríguez, Antonio: Política de alianzas y compromisos coloniales para la 'Regeneración' internacional de España, in: Tusell, Javier / Avilés, Juan / Pardo, Rosa (eds.): La política exterior de España en el siglo XX, Madrid 2000, pp. 31-94.
- 11. ↑ Torre Gómez, Hipólito de la: El destino de la 'regeneración' internacional de España (1898-1918), in: Prosérpina 1 (1984), pp. 9-22.
- 12. ↑ Seco Serrano, La España de Alfonso XIII 2002, p. 344.
- 13. ↑ Díaz-Plaja, Fernando: La España política del siglo XX en fotografías y documentos. Tomo primero, del arranque del siglo a la Dictadura, 1900-1923, Madrid 1975, pp. 241-242.
- 14. ↑ Niño Rodríguez, Antonio: El rey Embajador, in: Moreno Luzón, Javier (ed.): Alfonso XIII, un político en el trono, Madrid 2003, p. 262.
- 15. Montero Jiménez, El despertar de la gran potencia 2011, p. 96.
- 16. ↑ Ponce Marrero, Francisco: Neutrality and Submarine Warfare: Germany and Spain during the First World War, in: War and Society 34/4 (2015), p. 290.
- 17. ↑ Ibid., pp. 73-74.
- 18. ↑ García Sanz, España en la Gran Guerra 2011, pp. 50-51.
- 19. ↑ Ministerio de Fomento: Anuario Estadístico de España, Madrid 1918, pp. 460-462.
- 20. † García Sanz, La Primera Guerra Mundial 2011, pp. 84-129. González Calleja / Aubert, Nidos de espías 2014, pp. 81-111. Also, Aliados en guerra. Gran Bretaña (1914-1916), in: Ayer 94/2 (2014), pp. 147-173.
- 21. Montero Jiménez, El despertar de la gran potencia 2011, pp. 98-110.
- 22. † Ibid., pp. 73-74. González Calleja / Aubert, Nidos de espías 2014, pp. 283-290.

- 23. Montero Jiménez, El despertar de la gran potencia 2011, pp. 110-133.
- 24. † García Sanz, La Primera Guerra Mundial 2011, pp. 346-354.
- 25. Montero Jiménez, El despertar de la gran potencia 2011, pp. 173-203.
- 26. † Ibid., pp. 152-173. González Calleja / Aubert, Nidos de espías, pp. 301-312.
- 27. Montero Jiménez, El despertar de la gran potencia 2011, p. 265.

### **Selected Bibliography**

Albes, Jens: Worte wie Waffen. Die deutsche Propaganda in Spanien während des Ersten Weltkrieges, Essen 1996: Klartext.

Aubert, Paul: La propagande étrangère en Espagne dans le premier tiers du XXe siècle, in: Mélanges de la Casa de Velázquez 31/3, 1995, pp. 103-176.

Bailey, Thomas Andrew: **The policy of the United States toward the neutrals, 1917-1918**, Gloucester 1966: P. Smith.

Carden, Ron M.: **German policy toward neutral Spain, 1914-1918**, New York 1987: Garland Publishing.

Fuentes Codera, Maximiliano: **España en la Primera Guerra Mundial. Una movilización cultural**, Madrid 2014: Akal.

García Sanz, Carolina: La Primera Guerra Mundial en el Estrecho de Gibraltar. Economía, política y relaciones internacionales, Madrid 2011: Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas.

García Sanz, Carolina: **British blacklist in Spain during the First World War. The Spanish case study as a belligerent battlefield**, in: War in History 21/4, 2014, pp. 496–517.

García Sanz, Carolina: **Aliados en guerra. Gran Bretaña y el comercio neutral (1914-1916)**, in: Ayer 94/2, 2014, pp. 147-173.

García Sanz, Carolina / Fuentes Codera, Maximiliano: **Toward new approaches to neutrality in the First World War. Rethinking the Spanish case-study**, in: Ruiz Sánchez, José-Leonardo / Cordero Olivero, Inmaculada / García Sanz, Carolina (eds.): Shaping neutrality throughout the First World War, Seville 2016: Editorial Universidad de Sevilla, pp. 39-62.

García Sanz, Fernando: **España en la Gran Guerra. Espías, diplomáticos y traficantes**, Barcelona 2014: Galaxia Gutenberg.

González Calleja, Eduardo / Aubert, Paul: **Nidos de espías. España, Francia y la Primera Guerra Mundial, 1914-1919**, Madrid 2014: Alianza.

Hertog, Johan den / Kruizinga, Samuël (eds.): **Caught in the middle. Neutrals, neutrality and the First World War**, Amsterdam 2011: Aksant.

Martorell Linares, Miguel Angel: 'No fue aquello solamente una guerra, fue una revolución'. España y la Primera Guerra Mundial, in: Historia y Política 26, 2011, pp. 17-45.

Montero Jiménez, José Antonio: El despertar de la gran potencia. Las relaciones entre España y los Estados Unidos (1898-1930), Madrid 2011: Biblioteca Nueva.

Niño Rodríguez, Antonio: **Política de alianzas y compromisos coloniales para la 'Regeneración' internacional de España**, in: Tusell, Javier / Avilés Farré, Juan / Pardo, Rosa (eds.): La política exterior de España en el siglo XX, Madrid 2000: Biblioteca Nueva, pp. 31-94.

Ponce, Javier: Canarias en la Gran Guerra, 1914-1918. Estrategia y diplomacia. Un estudio sobre la política exterior de España, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria 2006: Cabildo de Gran Canaria.

Ponce, Javier: **Propaganda and politics. Germany and Spanish opinion in World War I**, in: Paddock, Troy R. E. (ed.): World War I and propaganda, Leiden 2014: Brill, pp. 293-321.

Ponce, Javier: Neutrality and submarine warfare. Germany and Spain during the First World War, in: War and Society 34/4, 2015, pp. 287-300.

Roldán, Santiago / García Delgado, José Luis: La consolidación del capitalismo en España, 1914-1920, Madrid 1974: Confederación Española de Cajas de Ahorro.

Romero Salvadó, Francisco J.: **España, 1914-1918. Entre la guerra y la revolución**, Barcelona 2002: Editorial Crítica.

#### Citation

Montero Jiménez, José Antonio: Foreign Policy (Spain), in: 1914-1918-online. International Encyclopedia of the First World War, ed. by Ute Daniel, Peter Gatrell, Oliver Janz, Heather Jones, Jennifer Keene, Alan Kramer, and Bill Nasson, issued by Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin 2017-02-24. **DOI**: 10.15463/ie1418.11060.

#### License

This text is licensed under: CC by-NC-ND 3.0 Germany - Attribution, Non-commercial, No Derivative Works.